
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

____________________________________ 
  
   LAWRENCE MILLER 
   1285 Brentwood Road, NE 
   Apartment # 3 
   Washington, DC 20019,   
   
  Plaintiff,  
   
 v.   No. ___________________   
      

OFFICER FRED PRICE (Badge # 523)  JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
   WMATA Transit Police 
   600 5th Street, NW 
   Washington, DC 20001, 
 
  Defendant. 
____________________________________ 

 
COMPLAINT 

 
(Seeking damages for police misconduct: violation of rights under the  

Constitution of the United States and the law of the District of Columbia) 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 1. On May 19, 2011, plaintiff Lawrence Miller observed Washington Metropolitan 

Area Transit Authority (WMATA) police officers throwing his friend, Dwight Harris, from his 

wheelchair to the ground before arresting him in front of the 13th Street exit of the U Street 

Metro station.  Concerned about the officers’ violence towards Mr. Harris, Mr. Miller spoke up 

on his friend’s behalf.  In response to his reasonable questions, voiced by other bystanders as 

well, Officer Price threatened to arrest him too.  Mr. Miller decided to leave and began walking 

away, but Officer Fred Price followed and arrested him.  He was cited and required to appear 

in court where all charges were dropped.  Officer Price’s actions violated plaintiff’s rights 

under the First and Fourth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States and constituted 
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false arrest and assault and battery under the laws of the District of Columbia.  Mr. Miller 

accordingly seeks compensatory and punitive damages, fees, costs and other appropriate relief. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.  

§ 1331 (federal question).  Mr. Miller brings this action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 to vindicate 

his rights established under the First and Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  

His claims under the common law of the District of Columbia arise from the same events as his 

constitutional claims and are within the Court’s supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1367. 

  3. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).  The events giving 

rise to plaintiff’s claims occurred in the District of Columbia. 

PARTIES 

                4. Plaintiff Lawrence Miller is an adult resident of the District of Columbia. 

                5. Defendant Fred Price is a sworn officer employed by the Washington 

Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (WMATA).  At the time of the events at issue he was 

acting under color of law.  At the time of the events at issue he was acting within the scope of 

his employment.  He is sued in his individual capacity. 

FACTS 

                   6. At approximately 3:30 p.m. on May 19, 2011, Lawrence Miller heard some noises 

while sitting with his friends outside the Starbucks coffee shop at the corner of U Street and 13th 

Street in Northwest D.C.  Knowing of a promotion for Sun Drop soda outside the U Street Metro 

exit, Mr. Miller and a friend walked towards the noise, hoping to receive a free soda.  
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    7.  Drawing closer to the Metro exit, Mr. Miller was alarmed when he saw the 

wheelchair of his friend, Mr. Dwight Harris, in the middle of a gathering crowd. At that moment 

he watched two WMATA police officers pick up Mr. Harris from his wheelchair and dump him 

on the ground.  

                       8. Mr. Miller saw officers surrounding Mr. Harris making no effort to help him up.  

Rather, they let him remain helpless on the ground and then handcuffed him.  

                       9. Mr. Miller had known Mr. Harris for nearly ten years, often seeing him in the U 

Street area.  Mr. Miller had never seen Mr. Harris being violent or aggressive.  On the contrary, 

he knew Mr. Harris as a quiet, mild-mannered older man who sold Street Sense (a newspaper 

mostly written and sold by homeless people) and never raised his voice. 

10. As Mr. Miller got closer he saw that Mr. Harris was bleeding from a head 

injury.  Concerned for his welfare, he asked Mr. Harris if he was okay; the scene was hard to 

understand, so he asked the officers what they were doing and what Mr. Harris’s charges were; 

he remarked to his friend that the officers had “fucked him [Mr. Harris] up for real.”  

11. The officers impatiently told Mr. Miller that they had arrested Mr. Harris 

because he had an open container of alcohol and had attempted to assault a police officer.  

Knowing of Mr. Harris’s non-violent nature, slight build, and physical disability, Mr. Miller 

was skeptical of the police officers’ story.  

12. Addressing the officers, Mr. Miller asked “Really? This guy really assaulted 

you?”  Officer Price retorted, “Get out of here or we’ll lock your ass up, too.”  At no point did 

Mr. Miller raise his voice, touch an officer, or incite others to act in any way. 

13. Meanwhile other witnesses spoke up.  Ann Marie Staudenmaier, an attorney at 

the nearby Washington Legal Clinic for the Homeless, called out to police that Mr. Harris 
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needed medical care.  And after hearing the officer threaten Mr. Miller with arrest, she also 

asked the officers what Mr. Miller had done to warrant such a threat.  

14. Mr. Miller’s friend suggested they should leave to avoid any trouble. Mr. 

Miller agreed and started to walk away.  He thought that if the police officers were capable of 

treating Mr. Harris so recklessly, they would have no trouble arresting him for no good reason.  

After Mr. Miller had walked about five feet away, Office Price came up behind him, grabbed 

him by the arm and said, “Oh, no.  You are going to jail.”  Mr. Miller did not resist as Officer 

Price threw him against a WMATA Transit Police cruiser, frisked him, and handcuffed him.   

15. Officer Price put Mr. Miller in the back of a police cruiser where he sat for at 

least fifteen minutes.  A female police officer spoke with Mr. Miller while he waited and gave 

her opinion that he should not have been arrested.  Others who knew Mr. Miller in the U Street 

area stopped by the cruiser and expressed their outrage over his arrest. 

16. From the car window Mr. Miller saw an ambulance arrive for Mr. Harris, after 

he had been on the ground for approximately twenty minutes. 

17.  Office Price then drove Mr. Miller to the Third District Station of the 

Washington Metropolitan Police Department.  Mr. Miller was searched, photographed, 

fingerprinted, and held for approximately six hours before being released with a citation to 

appear in D.C. Superior Court on charges of disorderly conduct and assaulting a police officer. 

 18.  On July 14, 2011, Mr. Miller appeared in court and both charges were 

dropped. The court issued “Records of No Paper Action,” forms stating that the Attorney 

General had declined to file charges because the police paperwork was missing or was 

insufficient to make a charging decision.  
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19.  On May 19, 2011, Mr. Miller did not engage in any conduct constituting 

disorderly conduct or assault on a police officer.  Officer Price lacked probable cause to arrest 

Mr. Miller for those offenses or for any other offenses.  Officer Price arrested Mr. Miller solely 

because of the content of Mr. Miller’s speech regarding the officers’ treatment of Mr. Harris.  

20.  As a result of the events described above, Mr. Miller suffered humiliation, 

embarassment and mental anguish.  He worries that people who saw him get arrested may 

incorrectly think he was at fault; he worries also that Metro station managers and Transit Police 

officers may be closely scrutinizing his actions in and around Metro stations.  He worries that 

he may again be arrested if he questions police officers’ conduct. 

                   21.  The actions and omissions of defendant Price reflect deliberate indifference to 

the constitutional and common-law rights of plaintiff Miller. 

22.  At the time of Mr. Miller’s arrest, it was clearly established as a matter of law 

that the government may not arrest and search an individual without probable cause to believe 

the person committed or was about to commit a criminal offense. 

23.  At the time of Mr. Miller’s arrest, it was clearly established as a matter of law 

that the government cannot arrest and search an individual as retaliation or punishment for 

peacefully criticizing the police or because the government dislikes the content of the person’s 

speech, whether or not the person used crude language.  

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

Claim I:Violation of First Amendment Rights 

           24. The Defendant’s actions described above, arresting Mr. Miller for criticizing or 

questioning the police, violated his right to freedom of expression protected by the First 

Amendment to the United States Constitution. 
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  25. The Defendant is liable to Mr. Miller for this violation of his rights, pursuant to 

42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

Claim II: Violation of Fourth Amendment Rights -- Unlawful Search and Seizure 

                   26. Mr. Miller’s conduct on May 19, 2011, did not provide probable cause or 

reasonable suspicion to believe that he had committed, was committing, or was about to commit 

any crime. 

                     27. The Defendant’s actions described above, arresting Mr. Miller without probable 

cause, violated Mr. Miller’s right under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution 

to be free from unreasonable search and seizure.  

                28. The Defendant is liable to Mr. Miller for this violation of his rights, pursuant to 

42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

Claim III: Violation of Fourth Amendment Rights – Excessive Force 
 

       29. The Defendant’s actions described above, arresting Mr. Miller with an 

unprivileged use of force, violated Mr. Miller’s right under the Fourth Amendment to the United 

States Constitution to be free from unreasonable seizure (including use of force unreasonable 

under the circumstances). 

      30. The Defendant is liable to Mr. Miller for this violation of his rights, pursuant to 42 

U.S.C. § 1983. 

Claim IV: False Arrest  
 

              31. The Defendant’s actions described above, arresting Mr. Miller without probable 

cause, constituted false arrest and false imprisonment under the laws of the District of 

Columbia. 
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               32. The Defendant is liable to Mr. Miller for this violation of his rights under the laws 

of the District of Columbia. 

      Claim V: Assault and Battery 

      33.  The Defendant’s actions described above, using force against Mr. Miller where 

no force was lawful, constituted assault and battery under the laws of the District of Columbia.   

34.  The Defendant is liable to Mr. Miller for this violation of his rights under the 

laws of the District of Columbia. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

                 WHEREFORE, plaintiff requests that this Court: 

a.  RULE the actions of Defendant Price violated Lawrence Miller’s rights under the 

First and Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the laws of the District of 

Columbia;    

b. ENTER JUDGMENT awarding him compensatory and punitive damages against 

the Defendant in an amount appropriate to the evidence adduced at trial; 

c.  ENTER JUDGMENT awarding him his costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees in 

this action as provided in 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and 

d.  GRANT him such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper. 

JURY DEMAND 

 Plaintiff demands a trial by jury. 

   Respectfully submitted, 

   /s/ Arthur B. Spitzer 
   ___________________________________ 
   Arthur B. Spitzer, D.C. Bar #235960 
   Frederick V. Mulhauser, D.C. Bar #455377 
   American Civil Liberties Union of the Nation’s Capital  
   1400 20th Street, N.W., Ste. 119 
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   Washington, DC  20036 
   (202) 457-0800 
   (202) 452-1868 (fax) 
   artspitzer@aol.com 
   fmulhauser@aol.com 
 
   Attorneys for Lawrence Miller 
 
January  17, 2012 
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